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FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW Y()%( EP 30 20

BROGKLYN OFFICE

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plainu{f]

NEW YORK METROPOLITAN
TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY,

and

NEW YORK CITY TRANSIT AUTHORITY,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT
Plaintiff, United States of America {“United States”), alleges: |
1. This action 15 brought on behalf of the United States to enforce the provisions of
Titie VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000¢, et seq. (“Title VIPY.
2, This Court has jurisdiction of this action under 42 U.S.C. § 2000¢-6(b), 28 11.5.C.
§ 1343{a)(3) and 28 U.S.C. § 1345
3 Defendants, New York Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“MTA") and New
York City Transit Authonty ("NYCTA"), are public benefit corporations created pursuant to the
tasws of the State of New York.

4. Defendants are “persons” within the meaning of 42 U1.S.C. § 2000¢{a) and

“employers” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(b).



5. Defendants employ, among other individuals, bus and subway train operators,
responsible for transporting individuals throughout the New York City metropolitan area.

0. Defendants are responsible for establishing the terms, conditions, policies and
practices that bear upon the employment of their employees.

7. Prior to 2002, Defendants failed or refused to consistently enforce uniform
policies for bus and subway train operators, which provided, inter alia, either that MTA hats
were optional or ﬂml non-MTA hats were prohibited. Upon information and belief, Defendants
condoned the wearing of non-MTA hats in some instances.

3. Since March 2002, Defendants have selectively enforced uniform policies to
target Muslim and Stkh employees whose sincerely held religious beliefs and practices require
that they wear religious head coverings. These religious practices conflict with Defendants’
uniform policies. As a result of Defendants® discriminatory application and enforcement of these
uniform policies, Muslim, Sikh and similarly situated employees have suffered adverse
employment aclions.

9. Defendants also have failed or refused to reasonably accommodate the sincerely
held religious beliefs and practices of Muslim, Sikh and similarly situated employees.

10. Defendants discriminated against Malikah Alkebulan, a bus operator and rmember
of the Muslum faith, because of religion when she refused to comply with uniform policies based
on her sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntarily transferred to a
position shifling buses with no passenger interaction and diminished benefits.

T, Defendants diseriminated against Deirdre Small, a bus operator and member of

the Muslim faith, because of religion when she refused to comply with uniform policics based on
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her sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntanily transferred to a
position shifting buses with no passenger interaction and diminished benefits.

12

Defendants discriminated against Gladys Muhammad, a bus operator and membher
of the Muslim faith, because of religion when she refused to comply with uniform policies based
on her sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntarily transferred to a
position shifling buses with no passenger interaction and diminished benefits.
13. Defendants discnminated against Stephanie Lewis, a bus operator and member of
the Muslim faith, because of religion when she refused to comply with uniform policies based on
her sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, involuntarily transferred to a
position shifting buses with no passenger interaction and diminished benefits.
14, Defendants discriminated against Kevin Harringion, a subway train operator and
member of the Sikh faith, because of religion when he refused to comply with uniform policies
based on his sincerely held religious beliefs and was, among other things, mvoluntarily
transferred to a job shifting subway trains with no passenger interaction and diminished benefits.
15, Defendants have pursued and continue to pursue policies and practices that
discriminate against employees on the basis of religion, in violation of Section 707 of Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 1U.S.C. § 2000e-6, among other ways, by
A. Selectively enforcing uniform policies and taking adverse em ployment
actions against Muslim, Sikh and similarty situated emplovees who are
unable to comply with uniform policies for religious reasons;

B. Failing or refusing to reasonably accommodate Muslim, Sikh and similarly
situated employees who, in accordance with their rehigious beliefs and

ractices, are unable to comply with uniform policies: and
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C. Failing or refusing to take appropriate action 10 eliminate the
discriminatory policies and practices and to remedy the effects of those
policies and practices.

6. The policies and practices of Defendants described in paragraphs 7 through 15
above constitute a pattern or practice of resistance to the full enjoyment by Muslim, Sikh and
similarly situated employces of their rights to equal employment opportunities without
discnimination based on religion, in violation of Section 707 of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act
of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000¢-6. This pattern or practice is of such a nature and is
intended to deny the full exercise of the rights secured by Title VIL Unless enjoined by Order of
this Court, Defendants will continue to pursue policies and practices that are the same as or
similar to those alleged in this Complaint.

17. [n accordance with Section 707 of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-6, the United States, through the Department of Justice, has
mvestigated the employment practices of Defendants, has notified them of the investigation and
the policies and practices described in paragraphs 7 through 15 above, and has unsuccessfully
attempted to resolve this matter through negotiation.

18. All conditions precedent 1o the filing of this suit have been satisfied.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff United States prays for an Order enjoimng Defendants, their
officers, agents, employees, successors and all persons in aclive concert or participation with
them, from engaging in discriminatory employment policies and practices against Muslim, Sikh
and similarly situated employees based on religion, and spectfically from failing or refusing 1o

Al Enforce uniform policies in a way that provides equal employment

opportunitics and reasonable accommodations to all Muslim, Sikh and similarly situated



employees who are unable to comply with uniform policies due to their religious beliefs and
practices;

B. Adopt a policy designed to provide reasonable accommodations to
Muslun, Sikh and similarty situated employees who are unable to comply with uniform policies
due to their religious behefs and practices;

C. Provide reasonable accommodations to Muslim, Sikh and similarly
sitnated employees whe are unable to comply with uniform policies due to their religious beliefs
and practices;

D. Provide make whole relief, including but not limited to back pay with
interest and other employment benefits, to Muslim, Sikh and similarly situated current and
former employees who have suffered loss or will suffer loss as a result of the discriminatory
policies and practices alleged in this Complaint; and

k. Take such other steps as may be necessary to prevent and to remedy
employment discrimmation and the pattern or practice of discrimination in employment
1dentified above.

Plamntff Umited States prays for such further relief as the Court may deem just,

together with its costs and disbursements i this action.



JURY DEMAND
Plaintiff United States hereby demands a trial by jury of all 1ssues so tniable pursuant to
Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Section 102 of the Civil Rights Act of 1991,

42 US.C. § 1981a.

JOHN DL ASHCROFT
Attorney General

R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA
Assistant Attomey General
Civil Rights Division
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DAVID j. PAL\/IER DPJrSLg} {D.C. Bar No. 417834)

Chief M. éﬁﬁﬁ\w

Nraa ?m Lovin
JOHN M. GADZICHOWSKI (JGéGOS) {Wisc. Bar No.
1014294)

Deputy Chief

DIANA EMBREY (DE3048) (D.C. Bar No, 457470}
LOUIS LOPEZ (D3.C. Bar No. 461602)

SHAARIK H. ZAFAR {§Z8670) (Tex. Bar No.
24028248)

Trial Attorneys

U.S. Department of Justice

Civil Rights Division

Employment Litigation Section

950 Pennsylvama Avenue, N.W.

Patnnck Henry Building, Room 4918

Washington, D.C. 20530

Telephone: (202) 353-2510

Facsimile: (202} 514-1105

Attorneys {or Plamtff United States of America
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